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COMMISSIONER:   Well, good morning again.  Good morning – should I refer to as Ms Fish?  
Just wondering what your title is, is that correct?  Yes.  And Mr Schlebusch.  Yes, welcome 
very much to the proceedings of the Commission and thank you for the report which you have 
prepared for us.  You will be aware that the proceedings of the Commission are public and that 
your testimony may be made public both in the report of the Commission and through the 
media and you have no objection to that? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   No objection.   
COMMISSIONER:   You will both need to put under oath, we have followed this unusual 
procedure through the Commission of asking two people to testify simultaneously and so we’ll 
follow that procedure again now and if I can start with you, Ms Fish, do you have any objection 
to taking the oath? 
MS FISH:   No. 
JOY FISH:   (Sworn states) 
COMMISSIONER:   Mr Schlebusch, you have no objection to taking the oath? 
MS FISH:   No objection. 
JOHAN SCHLEBUSCH:   (Sworn states) 
COMMISSIONER:   Thank you very much.  Ms Bawa? 
EXAMINATION BY MS BAWA:   Morning.  You provided the Commission with a report which 
had been compiled by both of you. 
MS FISH:   Yes. 
MS BAWA:   And you confirm that the contents of that report dated 6 May 2014 is to the best 
of your knowledge true and correct? 
MS FISH:   Yes. 
MS BAWA:   And annexure A to that report indicates the documentation to which you had 
regard in preparing your report? 
MS FISH:   Yes. 
MS BAWA:   You’ve also prepared – and I’ll ask you this individually.  Ms Fish, you provided us 
with a curriculum vitae and you confirm that to be true and correct? 
MS FISH:   Yes. 
MS BAWA:   Mr Schlebusch, you provided us with a curriculum vitae and you confirm that to 
be true and correct? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Correct. 
MS BAWA:   Now if I take you through the report with reference – and if you need to refer to 
any of the documentation you can just tell me accordingly but I’m going to ask you some 
issues of clarification but before I do so, can you give me an idea of having looked at the 



documentation which the Commission provided to you in relation to human resource as such, 
can you give me an indication of what your overall impression was having had regard thereto? 
MS FISH:   Okay.  Well, our overall impression, we prepared – if I could just say – perhaps I 
could just say by way of introduction that between us we have 60 years experience in human 
resources but not within the police.  Our experience is in multi-national companies and also 
myself working with the universities here in the Western Cape in the area of human resources.  
So we looked at this and we were quite impressed at many of the things we read, particularly 
the strategy documents, the extent to which attempts are being made to measure performance 
but really we wondered what was happening to the implementation of plans.  So we felt that 
where things were falling apart was perhaps in follow up to problems that have been identified 
over a number of years and just the putting into practice of strategies and one of the things we 
are recommending is perhaps just trying to simplify people, that whole system of performance 
management so that people focus on perhaps a limited number, a manageable number of 
objectives for each year.  We felt that current system was extremely complex, it seems to be a 
lot of analysis and not enough implementation and that’s perhaps in a nutshell. 
MS BAWA:   Now if you had to set manageable priorities for SAPS what would they be? 
MS FISH:   Sorry? 
MS BAWA:   Sorry, you see there’s a pair of earphones there, if you put it onto number 3 it sort 
of blocks out the external noise and you can hear a little bit better across the room.  Is that 
maybe better?  Can you hear? 
MS FISH:   Fine.  Okay, yes, yes.  So could you repeat that question? 
MS BAWA:   Okay.  If you had to set manageable priorities for SAPS what would they be? 
MS FISH:   Okay, I’m going to hand over to Johan, that’s his area of expertise. 
MS BAWA:   Okay. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I mean, I think if – as a general comment on performance management 
the reason that an organisation goes into performance management is obviously to improve 
the performance of the organisation as a whole and what goes hand in hand with that is setting 
direction and agreeing what are the crucial important issues and in getting alignment which 
goes through, you know, it cascaded from the top down.  So you start at the top with, you 
know, often broader goes but it’s absolutely imperative from a leadership point of view that 
you’re clear in terms of the direction going forward and you’re clear in terms of the priorities 
and from experience, you know - I mean there’s no magical number but once you start moving 
beyond four or five areas of priority you start diluting your efforts and you start losing focus but 
as you cascade down what may be one priority at the top level could, for example, go to the 
detectives area and once again interpret into five priorities going further down.  I mean, what 
we saw in terms of one of those performance contracts were key performance areas but then 
there were, from memory, 76 different aspects which had to be adhered to in terms of 
performing against that and that’s where you lose your focus because it’s just not possible.  
 The other critical thing about priorities is – the reality is, with everything we’ve seen, you 
can’t do everything so you’ve got to make choices and the priorities inform you that if you’ve 
got to choose between two what is it that you take up and so it’s another important aspect of 
that prioritisation process. 
MS BAWA:   So if I take that into the context of policing one of the experts on policing was 
giving later today, Dr Burger, he outlines four matters which he says underscores successful 
policing and he says those are: 

1. To develop and maintain good community relations. 



2. To generate overt and covert intelligence which will enable the police to identify what 
problems are, where they are, when they are, why it happens, who might be 
involved, who is responsible. 

3. To carry out dedicated crime investigations, in other words dealing with persistent 
crime problems, and  

4. Provide visible policing patrols that are targeted at areas prone to high levels of 
crime, violence and disorder, in other words reassure the public in areas where they 
feel unsafe. 

Now when we look at your idea at a manageable set or priorities you would link that to the 
kinds of factors which he lists as underscoring success in policing. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Yes that, you know, to me would sound like exactly the kind of direction 
priority you’d set. 
MS BAWA:   Now you mentioned the performance agreement.  The one thing that – I looked at 
it rather naïvely, I thought that if you performed well you’d get something extra and if you didn’t 
perform well your performance agreement would have some sort of a punishment attached to 
it in rather wide terms.  But one doesn’t see that in the performance agreements, so how do 
you actually hold your senior management to account, what’s the purpose then of a 
performance agreement? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I mean, if we looked at the range of performance assessment and you 
had 96% falling into the satisfactory category, now if you followed a normal distribution curve 
you’d expect 68% in that category which would suggest that the full range of the scale is being 
avoided and we’ve heard evidence that to mark somebody down creates a huge amount of 
effort and paperwork, so that’s avoided and, you know, equally if you want to go above, you 
know, you need extra motivation but the realities at the moment, that the entire performance 
management scale is contained between that 50 and 70%, so you could almost recast it and 
just use that as your scale. 
 But I think there’s another aspect of performance management which can get lost if the 
focus is purely on the reward and that’s coming back to you’ve set goals and targets, the idea 
is to improve performance and what those goals and targets give you is an indicator we need 
to perform and then during the course of the year you can get feedback as to what’s working 
well, you can take early corrective action so you’re improving performance and that’s 
fundamentally important part of this whole performance management that if focus turns onto 
how we’re going to be rewarded, what’s the monetary aspect of that you start avoiding giving 
the constructive feedback with a view to improvement and but -  so yes at the moment it’s not 
differentiating so it’s not I think helping you as much as it could in terms of seeking areas for 
improvement during the course of the year and it’s also obviously not then differentiating in 
terms of reward.  But your other difficulty with that kind of – or the current existing approach is 
that you’re doing level evaluation, your immediate superior evaluates you, your immediate 
superior is responsible for you, you can never score those for whom you’re responsible very 
low and then get expected to be scored very high yourself, isn’t that an inherent flaw in the 
system and if you agree with the proposition how would you go about improving it? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I mean, if that is the culture then, you know, there’s a fundamental 
aspect within a culture.  If you have a culture which seeks continuous improvement you’re then 
also going to be setting goals and holding senior management accountable for the effective 
management of the system so that at a senior level if your entire department, you know, is 
coming through as a three that then is a failing at a senior management level.  If the unit as a 



whole is under-resourced then you’re starting to look at leadership issues, you know, or what is 
a prime accountability for leadership, so …(intervention) 
MS FISH:   And I’d also just like to comment on your proposition.  I mean clearly any good 
manager is needing to manage poor performance and so some indication that management of 
poor performance that the poor performance is even being identified, that that is actually a 
positive and not a negative, that at the same time one is identifying people who are doing a 
good job, that is a positive and not a negative, so I don’t agree with the proposition at all that a 
good manager should have good people necessarily always working for him or her. 
MS BAWA:   If you look – you mentioned these 76 tasks, can you actually when you’re 
measuring performance do a proper assessment when you’re evaluating 76 tasks? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I think my judgment on that is the answer would be no and you’re 
spending so much time on almost internal paperwork that it starts becoming self-defeating.  
The  performance management system shouldn’t absorb a huge amount of effort and energy 
in terms of paperwork and routine.  As I say, it’s there to help you in terms of what the priorities 
are, it’s there to help you get feedback so that you can improve in terms of your delivery and 
so I think you had to try and track and measure and justify performance against 76 tasks, I 
don’t think is effective. 
MS BAWA:   Now you advocated that it’s a culture of non-compliance which leads to discipline 
at a management level and the system examined by the Commission showed those steps 
being taken against management when they do not ensure corrective action is actually taken 
pursuant to inspectorate or audit reports.  How do you go about changing that from top down 
because we’ve had managers saying to us “I can’t actually discipline them, I’ll give them a 
talking to but it would be inherently unfair for me to discipline knowing what their case load is, 
knowing that he’s one of my best people, on certain cases he’s going to perform good, on 
other cases he’s not going to perform good and I know that’s so because he’s just carrying this 
burdensome load.”  How do you go about correcting such a system from a human resource 
point of view? 
MS FISH:   Look, I think when we read the evidence on dockets being lost, dockets not being 
delivered on time, simply not being delivered, it’s worrying and I would say as a manager if the 
first time one got such a complaint one want to say okay there’s this enormous mitigating 
factor and that is that the workload is too great but that manager must then analyse what is a 
manageable workload for each detective and thereafter if there is a repetition when one’s got a 
manageable workload then one can say well, this is negligence and that person should be 
disciplined for that negligence but I mean getting the workload down and again this hinges on 
leadership, leadership need to look at that whole issue of how do we manage those dockets, is 
there not a more effective system managing the dockets, if we need more resources what 
must be done?  So, Johan, did you want to add that leadership aspect?  That is your prime 
responsibility as a leader. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I mean, yes, I do also just want to come back to the issue of, if you like, 
a culture of non-compliance which develops and, you know, if we looked at some of the repeat 
findings which came up which were not addressed, in my experience and working with other 
organisations, you know, the follow up and ensuring action is taken, it seemed very much as a 
senior management, as a leadership accountability.  What also then helps is to pacify what is a 
high and critical as opposed to, you know, a low or a medium but that senior management 
would have that as part of their performance agreement and in an organisation like Shell, that 
would be monitored by the internal audit committee which has a fair degree of independence 



but failure to act on closing out high findings would be, you know, marked against the senior 
management concerned.  
 So the leadership has got a critical accountability in terms of setting the tone, setting the 
culture, you know, and making explicit to the organisation as to what are the standards and the 
behaviour which is required. 
MS BAWA:   Let me turn to the issue of complaints, I tried to sit down and I worked out that 
there’s possibly seven category of complaints coming in on policing.  

One, those which under law has to be referred to the independent police investigative 
director, so that gets investigated by them and they must make a finding in relation thereto so 
that doesn’t affect policing as such for the moment, just for argument’s sake. 

Then you have complaints that is made at a station directly and it’s dealt with by the 
station commander or it’s delegated by the station commander to someone else to deal with 
and these I would categorise as probably mostly service delivery complaint, there are certain 
measures in place that the station commander has to deal with. 

And there’s the complaints that the station commander where the station commander 
has guidelines, he’s got to refer it onto the Provincial Inspectorate maybe because it’s an 
egregious or there’s a directive in place or legislation says for domestic violence it’s got to be 
referred and so on, there’s that category. 

Then there’s the complaints that ends up from a variety of different sources with the 
Provincial Inspectorate that the inspectorate would refer to a disciplinary committee given once 
again the nature of those complaints. 

Then there’s complaints that end up also from variety of sources by the inspectorate 
that the inspectorate itself would investigate.  Maybe it’s a high-profile matter or it’s a directive 
from the PC that the inspectorate direct it. 

And then there’s a complaints once again from a variety of sources that ends up by the 
inspectorate, that the inspectorate delegates to a member at another station to investigate so 
there’s some independence away from the complaints area and that gets investigated like that 
but it’s the last category that I want to come to. 

There’s complaints that ends up from various sources by the inspectorate and then the 
inspectorate sends it back to the station commander and in most cases we’ve seen the station 
commander delegates another member at the police station to investigate that complaint and 
then he’s got to report back according to a set policy that’s in place. 

Right, now it’s this latter category that we face some difficulty with and maybe it’s a 
difference between a lawyer saying well, where’s the oversight if you’re investigating yourself 
at the station versus an HR perspective that’s saying well, there’s certain labour issues or HR 
issues which an employer should be able to investigate and deal with themselves and I’d like 
your comment on that kind of a tension between the two, could you comment on that?  ---  Ja, I 
think for most companies they will always investigate – well not always, now and again they’d 
bring in an external auditor but usually they would investigate the allegations of misconduct for 
their own employees and I think the difficulty is from what I have read is where the police say 
one thing and an external complainant says another so you’ve got two different versions of 
what happened. 

Now I think it fair perhaps to say well let’s give the employee the benefit of the doubt the 
first time that happened but if it happened again – and I would think that a good manager 
would now be on the lookout for that – if it happened again then you would say now wait a 
minute, is there a trend developing there?  That’s similar to a shop owner, if one gets a 



complaint from a customer then you might give the employee the benefit of the doubt the first 
time but if two customers complained you’d say no wait, this is now perhaps a problem.  So I 
think in that instance the shop owner would be aware that he’s got an employee who is rude to 
customers it’s going to affect his back pocket and he’s going to take action and perhaps what 
is missing here is that there’s very little action taken when the police are investigating. 

The high number of instances of unsubstantiated, just on the sheer balance of 
probability looks wrong, it looks as if the police have been given the benefit of the doubt a little 
bit too often. 

I don’t know who is investigating the complaint where it’s a peer or whether it’s 
somebody more senior …(intervention) 
MS BAWA:   It’s usually somebody more senior at the station. 
MS FISH:   Hm.  And as I say, I think it is difficult the first time it happens if somebody says 
well no, I did introduce myself and another person says no, he didn’t introduce himself, which 
version do you believe especially if there are no witnesses but if it happens again, if there’s a 
second complaint against that person I would now start to be very suspicious. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   If I could just add, I think it’s also a question of, you know, what is the 
organisation value, so if we are serious about improving our image then that’s a message 
which is also goes down.  So if there are 60 unsubstantiated claims there’s never enough 
material there at a more senior level to say we’ve got an issue here, let’s have a look at it, 
what’s happening, you know, why are these perceptions out there, what can we do to change 
those perceptions?  It’s that kind of initiative which moves it from being a passive – we’ve gone 
through all the processes and we’ve ticked the boxes to – this is an area that we want to 
improve, how can we use this information to help us, you know, take it forward?   
 And once again I think that’s something which you would look for from leadership 
oversight, even without having to go to an external, you know, body having oversight. 
MS BAWA:   Let me go to the question of absenteeism, there are a number of issues but the 
one that is of probably biggest concern is the high sick leave.  How does an organisation go 
about turning that around? 
MS FISH:   Ja, first of all let me say that I’ve worked in organisations that give far more sick 
leave than the Basic Conditions of Employment Act and so I think here in the police my 
understanding is that it is the Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 36 stays in a three year 
cycle.   
 So maybe what one needs to just check is that every instance of sick leave is in fact 
being recorded so that if somebody were to go onto a longer sick leave they are in fact being – 
having their pay deducted, perhaps that’s needs to be looked at. 
 But I think from reading the evidence of a few station commanders if indeed they are 
aware of potential sick leave abusers and that they are making house visits.  Then they’re 
doing frankly more than the average employer can do so as long as they’re following up on the 
outcome of those house visits I think the police have probably more power than most 
employers to investigate doctors that they suspect are giving sick leave certificates for no 
reason at all and that sort of thing and I was also wondering whether the police have their own 
doctors to whom suspect sick leave abusers could be referred for second opinions but I don’t 
know whether in fact that was available but – so my own sense was that the police more than 
most employers could take action against sick leave abusers and they did seem to be aware of 
it so I – ja, I think that what I read suggests that they are taking action. 
MS BAWA:   When it comes to issue of vacancies, in your last paragraph you say: 



“The fact that vacancies take a long time to fill impacts on the problem with 
resourcing and this should be an issue which is relatively easy for SAPS to 
address.” 

Relatively easy in which sense? 
MS FISH:   Well, I mean, if you look at most employers in the private sector they would not sit 
for months and months and months with a senior position being vacant, I mean, it’s just 
untenable so they would sort that out, so I have worked for the past year in a large 
bureaucracy where all the recruitment had to go through HR and HR controlled it and there’s 
just so many people in HR doing recruitment so that there are these enormous backlogs. 

I don’t know what the SAPS recruitment is like but that can be changed, one must 
prioritise, especially the vacancies at a senior level and one could also prioritise vacancies in 
hotspots like Khayelitsha, places where one is aware that we can’t have reduced resources.  
So that to me seemed to be one of the key problems that people are facing here in 
Khayelitsha, that people are – well, first of all that the resourcing is below what they 
themselves identified to be the right resourcing levels, the 30% below but in addition to that 
there’s this long delay, I don’t know why, it should be done in a couple of months, there should 
be really no excuse for anything more than a couple of months to fill a job. 
MS BAWA:   Would you find it unacceptable HR policy if you say, for example, I’m a detective 
commander in Khayelitsha so I have a senior management position and I’ve applied for a 
promotion post at another police station or at another business unit but because of the nature 
of the post I hold I can’t take my transfer until my post is filled, would that be unfair to the 
person being promoted. 
MS FISH:   I think so, yes. 
COMMISSIONER:   Just while we’re on the issue of recruitment, one of the witnesses testified 
here that one of the practices that SAPS is going to follow in relation to recruitment and this is 
the entry level recruitment to student constable level is to hold public meetings where the 
names of the candidates would be disclosed to members of the public who attended those 
meetings for the members of the public to express their views on those candidates.  Is that a 
widely recognised recruitment practice? 
MS FISH:   No, no, and I’d say what – when prior to selecting people you look at what 
selection criteria do we need, what are the requirements of the job so what are you testing 
there?  I wouldn’t even know what you’re testing.  It’s potentially open to corruption as well, I 
would think. 
MS BAWA:   On that issue of recruitment, I happened to read a book which was written about 
Piet Byleveld who was a detective but quite a well-known detective in the country and in the 
book he describes his recruitment process a number of years ago, many years ago, probably 
more than 30 years ago, and he says what they did as part of that recruitment is they actually 
came out to meet his family, the recruiters, to see whether as somebody who is entering into 
SAPS and he describes it as a calling into rendering a police service, they wanted to check his 
background, where he came from and, I mean, in the apartheid years there might have been 
more kinds of nefarious reasons for wanting to do that but what would you say is needed on 
the part of SAPS to do when they recruit?  What do they need to ascertain from the person 
they’re recruiting into a police service. 
MS FISH:   I’m not sure what their selection criteria have been, I wouldn’t think one’s family 
background is all that relevant frankly, I think that could be prejudicial to somebody who is 
really good.  I think one would need people who are service orientate and reliable and clever, 



not necessarily popular.  Sometime one would presumably need the strength of character to 
take very unpopular decisions.   
 So ja, I would think the first step would be to sit down with a group of good policemen 
and to say okay, what makes a good policeman and just try and tease out what are you 
looking for in a person? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Sorry, if I can just also add, at recruitment typically you’re recruiting to fill 
a vacancy but you’re also recruiting to have the potential to develop people into leadership 
positions and so on, so your recruitment strategy should ideally look at a combination of the 
people we’re going to employ who are going to be good policemen but we also want to be 
employing people who we believe who have got potential to become future leaders or potential 
to become specialists so your criteria need to I think take that into account as well. 
COMMISSIONER:   In these regards can one rely on these various forms of personality 
examinations of testing – I’m not quite sure what they’re called in HR? 
MS BAWA:   Psychometric. 
COMMISSIONER:   Sorry, psychometric testing, thank you very much.  These are quite 
reliable and they’re established and proven, are they? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I mean, it’s obviously important to make sure that any psychometric tests 
which are used have met the standards in terms of being, you know, not culturally biased or 
racially biased but they are now fairly widely used, you know, around a whole range of 
organisations and I think particularly if you’re looking at senior positions, you know, or critical 
positions it offers you very useful additional resource in making decisions. 
MS BAWA:   I have no further questions. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MS BAWA 
COMMISSIONER:   Mr Arendse do you want to go now or – Mr Bishop, are you going to be 
putting questions here is it Mr …? 
MR BISHOP:   I’ll be (inaudible – microphone not on) 
COMMISSIONER:   Which would you prefer, Mr Arendse, should we let Mr Bishop go first?  
Go ahead, bearing in mind the time is somewhat pressured. 
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR BISHOP:  Thank you, Commissioner.  Thank you, both of 
you.  My first question is a very general question about human resources and the role of 
people in position of station manager in an organisation like SAPS which is a very large 
organisation, a national organisation, very centralised, very bureaucratic, very hierarchical, 
very militaristic, we’ve got colonels and brigadiers and so on and in an organisation like that, if 
you work with similar organisations what sort of role can someone in a position of a station 
commander, sort of a lower level management effectively in SAPS as a whole, what are the 
challenges that they face and what are the sort of the things that they can do to overcome 
that?  I know that a very general question. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Yes.  I mean, one of things that we recommend is that you look at say 
the Khayelitsha cluster and you take the leadership from Khayelitsha cluster and anybody who 
has a critical input to that leadership, so it might be from HR, you know, or finance and for that 
leadership to have – and, you know, and you’d need a facilitator who can take them through 
the process but in essence that leadership looks ahead and once again a magical number but 
you want to be looking ahead at least three to five years and determine where is it that we 
really would like this Khayelitsha cluster to be and then once you’ve got that, what is that going 
to mean for us in terms of crime prevention, crime reduction and, you know, our cooperative, 
you know, working with the community, etcetera, and you’ve got an experienced group of 



offices there, they can use their best professional judgment which is going to give them, you 
know, 90% of the insight as opposed to huge amount of detailed analysis.  
 Then we move back to where are we today, you know, what is our current reality and 
now what are the initiatives that we need that are going to take us there.  The big thing with 
that kind of an approach that you’re forward-looking, your solution-oriented as opposed to what 
are our current problems, how do we solve them, so if I could use an analogy, if I’m in the 
swamps and I’m fighting alligators I might become very efficient and very good at fighting 
alligators but if I drained the swamps I solve the problem, so that process potentially unlocks it 
but then fundamentally what they’re then saying is if these are the initiatives we need to take 
how do we empower the station commander, you know, because, you know, you’ve got to be 
put in a position to – if this is what’s needed for success – and once again I go back to the 
issue of the senior management, a prime function of senior management is to enable the 
people if we need them to be able to do their jobs in terms of resources, be it human 
resources, IT resources, vehicles, whatever it is, you know, and then that station commander 
is clear is as to where they’re going, they could then start motivating and bring everybody else 
on board and once again you’ve got to be able to talk to one or two sheets of paper as 
opposed to a whole raft.  But, you know, if does mean that everybody in that leadership cluster 
is really then got to be committed and work together.  I don’t know if that’s answering the 
question. 
MR BISHOP:   It helps, thank you.  One of the recommendations you have is about setting 
clear goals and one of the goals recommended is a crime reduction and one of the problems 
with that as a goal is obviously it’s open to manipulation so that if my goal is crime reduction I 
can achieve that either by actually reducing crime or just manipulating statistics so it looks like 
I’m reducing crime and I’m sure that’s a problem in a variety of workplace settings where you 
set a certain target but that creates various perverse incentives and I was just wondering as a 
general human resource issue how you deal with problems like that in the workplace? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Yes, I mean, what you’re referring to is it is a technical term for it, it’s 
called arbitrage and that’s how do I work this that I get the right number.  I think one of the first 
issues is that you’re ideally looking for measures which are output driven rather than input so if 
we’re wanting to reduce violent by 25% over three years then there’s going to range of 
measures which, you know, hopefully can’t be manipulated.   
 If my measures are that I’m going to have, you know, ten briefing session with the 
detectives I can tick that off.  I may not have any impact at all, so – and that’s what we would 
refer to as an input driven measure so you need those output driven measures because 
coming back to performance management I might decide that this is a good strategy to 
achieve it and then find three to six months down the line, no, it’s actually not making the 
impact, let me rethink, let me re-change, but you’re only going to do that if you focused on 
those hard, you know, output driven measures. 
MR BISHOP:   One of the other problems in crime reduction as Ms Redpath said earlier is if 
policing in Khayelitsha improves it’s likely that the crime rate will then increase because people 
will be more willing to report the crimes so that in that way it’s – I mean, we all want crime to 
reduce but it’s a very sort of complicated figure to use as a sort of your main kind of 
performance target because it may be that they improve a lot of inputs and as a result the 
output improves because crime reporting goes up. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Ja. 
MR BISHOP:   So that maybe a measure instead would be – and this is a difficult thing to do, 



but to measure the degree of underreporting so your goal is let’s decrease underreporting by 
20%. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I think you raise an incredibly valid point and once again I think – I would 
submit if you’ve got that group of leaders with all the experience that they’ve got they will have 
a pretty idea as do we have an underreporting problem here, you know, so you’re now really 
committed to making a difference, you now also know where the system can be arbitraged and 
yes, you may get that counter-intuitive response.  I know one organisation that, you know, did 
a survey and on customer, you know, service, they got quite a good score from within the 
organisation as to how they were performing and they said that’s (indistinct), it’s so important 
to us we’re going to put everybody through additional training in terms of what customer 
service orientation means and the following year the score had dropped because the 
employees were now aware of what was actually required of them. 
 But, you know, that’s a judgment call and, you know, I would be – you know, would 
suggest that if there are issues around trust and so on, that initially you are going to find, you 
know, things like underreporting coming through. 
COMMISSIONER:   Could you use – sorry, just to interrupt on this issue of measures, could 
you use measures that would be based, for example, on surveys, on victimisation surveys 
which might cover, for example, levels of trust in the police, levels of attitudes to police 
response as one of the measures which you should be held in performing against, can you use 
survey figures of that sort because one of the things that bothers me with crime reduction as 
you main measure is that it’s actually not directly necessarily linked to a good performance of a 
policing task and it’s the service element and the building community trust element and that is 
something that one would want to see but in fact is not really very well measured at the 
moment at all. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Ja.  No, I would certainly advocate, you know, if you’ve got external 
measures, you’ve got a different perception, it can often unlock the problem so you may get 
information  from feedback which you say well, it’s actually not fair given the following 
circumstances, however it’s telling me that that’s the perception out there, that’s awareness, 
now what I need to do to change that awareness but it’s also – if you’re inwardly focused you 
can actually have filters in place so that you’re not necessarily being dishonest but there’s just 
things that you don’t see, so I would be a strong advocate for saying, you know, use external 
measures, independent measures and see them as being helpful rather than, you know, 
judging you. 
COMMISSIONER:   I mean, one of the things that – with some of the other witnesses is the 
idea creating local policing commitments, the idea that a local police station in negotiation the 
community would say that we accept, we undertake that we will be with you in so many 
minutes of time, we undertake that nobody will be discourteous in our police station and we 
undertake this and that’s a partnership set of commitments which then again should be 
measured to ensure that in fact there’s partnerships, it’s away from these internal driven crime-
based measures which very, very difficult to expect things to improve and focuses on really 
measuring the success of building good community relationships and trust and so on. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Madame Commissioner, I think if you can get to a situation where you 
have the community involved with generating solutions as opposed to blaming and criticising I 
think you’ve taken a huge step forward, you know, towards being successful and the 
community can also then understand some of the incredibly difficult circumstances under 
which the police are operating so that there’s greater empathy for where the police are and a 



greater readiness to say okay, we continue to have this but, you know, can we do something 
from the community, is there something different we can do and clearly would be a first price, 
is to have that kind of engagement and constructive relationship with external parties. 
MR BISHOP:   I just want to ask you a few questions about recruiting, there’s an expert report 
from Mr Eyck, who identifies a number of problems that SAPS faces particularly recruiting at 
the entry level.  Issues he mentions are firstly that the numbers of the recruits aren’t known 
until shortly before the recruitment period ends, they don’t know of how many people they’re 
recruiting each year, that they’re offered uncompetitive salaries that generally there’s a poor 
level of education of the people they’re recruiting for the lower levels and also that they don’t 
receive a salary during training, they just receive a stipend and these are obviously things 
some of them aren’t in SAPS’ control, some of them are, but in that sort of environment 
recruiting at the lower level, do you have any ideas the sort of strategies that SAPS could use 
to try and improvement the recruitment at the entry level?   
MS FISH:   We haven’t focused on recruitment at all but – ja, it’s a difficult one, I would have 
thought that some kind of – I don’t know the extent of the stipend but some kind of assistance 
needs to be given but maybe needs at the end of that to have a selection at the end of a 
training period instead of at the beginning of it to put more people on board and then select.  Is 
that how they in fact do it or do they select everybody at the beginning? 
MR BISHOP:   I’m not entirely sure, I presume you’ve got pass some training. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   But I mean if I – I think – if I can also just comment on recruitment, it’s 
unusual for an organisation to have a single strategy on recruitment that everybody is going to 
come into the organisation at an entry level.  Most organisations would indeed have, you know, 
a policy of growing your own timber for maybe 80% of your requirements, that would also 
deliberately target bringing in people – at a mature level, people who have had working 
experience and I would think particularly into specialist functions like human resources or 
finance because it’s imperative for an organisation to nurture ongoing fresh thinking, creative 
thinking and drawing from other peoples’ experience but if your remuneration is uncompetitive 
then you are obviously going to have a problem in attracting the best but there may still be, you 
know, specific positions where you’re wanting target recruits at a more senior level, you know, 
into your organisation. 
 It just, on the fact of it, given the incredibly high levels of unemployment that we have 
with graduates and matriculants, there seems to be a disconnect as to, you know, why it is that 
it’s difficult to fill and one again, what a lot of organisations would look at quite carefully is, you 
know, what is the employee value proposition, why would it be attractive to be, you know, a 
police constable, why would it be attractive to get into the financial, you know, division and, you 
know, if you did simple, you know, almost focus group with a few, you know, experienced 
people, that might give you quite a good insight as to what made it very difficult for me but 
what attracted me. 
MR BISHOP:   On a different issue, if there was more diversity within SAPS particularly with 
regard to, for example, allowing people, foreign nationalities in SAPS and ensuring that 
stations have some people of foreign nationalities, do you in your experience, do you think that 
would improve the way that SAPS reacts to, for example, foreign nationals in as members of 
the public?  Would that make a difference? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   My experience and my personal belief is diversity is – it can be an 
incredibly powerful way of improving your overall effectiveness but it does come with a caveat, 
there were some case studies done of how the business school where they took one group 



which was homegenic and they took, you know, a couple of other groups and deliberately 
made them diverse and then tracked how they were performing during the course of the year 
and the homogeneous group outperformed the diverse group for the first six months and then 
in the latter six months the diverse simply started overtaking and what was absolutely 
fundamental to that is it’s not enough to have a diverse group, you’ve got to create an 
environment where that diversity is appreciated where you come to an understanding.  So you 
don’t want to have a diverse group and say we’re all going to follow a male-dominant South 
Africa culture and then surprise, surprise, the diversity becomes a handicap and it doesn’t 
benefit you, so yes, I think diversity in my view in the right environment will make a very 
positive contribution. 
MR BISHOP:   Commissioner, do I have time for one more question? 
COMMISSIONER:   (inaudible) 
MR BISHOP:   I’ve keep it brief.  Just with regard to discipline, would you – I mean remember 
from your report that you said SAPS should act particularly firmly because of the role that it’s 
playing and the nature of the service that it’s providing in the way that it disciplines its 
employees, is that correct? 
MS FISH:   I didn’t think we wanted to imply the discipline should be harsher than elsewhere, 
maybe you’re picking up on what I referred to as an aggravating circumstance.   
 We looked at a whole lot of lists where people had been disciplined and we didn’t have 
the detail so all we had was like a heading that said “Drunk on duty” and I would have thought 
that if you’re drunk on duty and you’re, for instance, a gardener sleeping on his spade because 
his drunk, that’s one thing, if you’re drunk on duty and you’re answering a call on a crime case 
there is an aggravating circumstance there that this is a policeman who is drunk on duty and 
so I’m surprised at the leniency that was coming through on some of the sanctions that had 
been handed down. 
 I think there was also another couple of cases where there were even drugs involved 
and so to me it felt like that was exceptionally lenient. 
 But just going through the Government Gazette on the police, you know, the whole 
disciplinary structure there, I can understand why your average station commander would 
actually want to avoid this and to go into the well let me just give a warning, get the guy to 
admit his guilt then we put this behind us quickly, especially under-resourced that one feels 
sympathetic to it but it did look as if really people are not being sanctioned at the level that I 
thought people would be sanctioned in the private sector on many of the cases but I did qualify 
that by saying we didn’t have the details. 
MR BISHOP:    And so simpler easier to apply a disciplinary process might assist station 
commanders if they left …(intervention) 
MS FISH:   Oh definitely, definitely, I mean, this seemed to be extremely bureaucratic and I 
think one of the witnesses mentioned cases going on for two years.  I mean, that’s just 
nonsense, it’s shouldn’t happen, it’s like – it’s a bit like the recruitment, what I said, you know, 
recruitment should happen within two months, I can see why a disciplinary case should last 
more than two months either. 
MR BISHOP:   Thanks very much, Commissioner. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR BISHOP 
COMMISSIONER:   Thanks, Mr Bishop.  Mr Arendse? 
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ARENDSE:  Ms Fish, my daughter’s name is Joy, she’s a 
very good swimmer but she hasn’t go your surname.  I’m sure she wished she did.  In your 60 



years of involvement or your joint cumulative experience in HR field of 60 years is this the first 
time that you’ve had to do a report or a study of a valuation into a  bureaucracy like the South 
Africa Police Service? 
MS FISH:   Yes, although perhaps Johan, you could… 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I mean, into the South Africa Police Service, yes, but I have been 
involved with some organisations in reengineering projects where you fundamentally review, 
you know, the whole organisation, what it’s about and how we can be more effective but not to 
an organisation, the size, you know, on the bureaucracy that you’ve got of South African 
Police. 
MR ARENDSE:  It’s a massive organisation, isn’t it?   I think outside the rest of the public 
service it’s the biggest organisation of its kind. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I mean, I don’t know if this is answering the question but I mean for me 
and having the experience I was talking about with these reengineering projects, typically they 
come about when an organisation says we’ve slipped back from where we want to be, we want 
to make a step change, you know, we want to look ahead and those organisations have 
typically fallen into a situation where they are internally focused, they’re procedurally driven, 
they are rule driven as opposed to goal-driven and value-driven.  So, for example, if I go past a 
school and I slow down to 40 because there’s a sign that I must slow down to 40, I’m rule-
driven.  If I go past the school and I slow down because I don’t want to injure, you know, or 
harm any kids, I’m being value-driven.  So bureaucracies I think have this continual fight, you 
need to have consistency and efficiencies but the risk is that that comes at the price of 
disempowering people and, you know, moving them away from being goal-orientated and 
looking forward. 
 One of the principles of reengineering is that the logic of the solution is not necessarily 
the logic of a problem.  Okay, so if I’m focused on where I am today, I’m focused on current 
problems and I’m looking at incremental improvements.  Well, you know, if we do another 
couple inspections, etcetera, that approach though is very, very unlikely to achieve a step 
change. 
 If I look forward and I put a peg in the ground and now the change is such that I can’t 
simply tweak what I’ve got then I’m forced to rethink how I do business.  The type of 
bureaucracy which we’ve commented on – you know, you get good bureaucracy and you get 
bad bureaucracy, so good bureaucracy is something which enables your organisation to be 
efficient, talk the same language and, you know, move quickly.  Bad bureaucracy is where 
you’re getting caught up in procedural red tape, you’re getting caught in power politics, you 
start having a blame culture and, you know, what I make sure is, I’m going to tick all the boxes 
so that I can protect myself and that, for me, would be a bad bureaucracy. 
MR ARENDSE:  Ja, all I wanted to establish – I’m not questioning your credentials at all, all I’m 
questioning you about is your experience in this area, this massive bureaucracy called the 
police.  You don’t have any other experience dealing with any similar or like organisation. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Okay, not with SAPS, most of my experience and Joy’s experience has 
been with private sector or at university. 
MR ARENDSE:  So you’ve been in the private sector. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I’ve been in the private sector. 
MR ARENDSE:  Mainly? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Yes. 
MR ARENDSE:  Now the question is, if you talk about a rule-based organisation or a value-



driven organisation, based on your experience how are you going to even begin to apply that 
to the police and before you answer that question, you will know that the police service like any 
other bureaucracy, it’s highly regulated.  In fact I look at some of the documents you looked at, 
you just about looked at the disciplinary regulations, you didn’t look at a myriad of other 
regulations, isn’t it? 
MS FISH:   Yes.  No, exactly. 
MR ARENDSE:  We also know that the police service like the whole of our public service is 
also highly unionised and there’s a lot of labour agreements in the security sectoral bargaining 
chamber there’s a myriad of labour agreements that bind senior management to agreements 
with the unions on discipline on a range of – on recruitment, on a range of other issues.  Have 
you looked into these? 
MS FISH:   No, no, we were sent a limited number of documents and some of the transcripts 
from the hearings that you’ve had to date. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   But, I mean, I can tell you that if you look at the oil industry, it’s a highly 
regulated industry and be it safety, be it environmental and, you know, labour laws and a host 
of others and what I was trying to get at and we have a great deal of empathy for, you know, 
the police service because they’ve got a huge task with incredibly difficult circumstances so, 
you know, we’re not trying to sit in judgment in terms of where they are but we hope that we 
could provide some contribution which hopefully will lead to some sort of solution.  So, you 
know, I still believe that there’s scope.  If you took the leadership, you know, of the Khayelitsha 
cluster and took them out of thinking that, you know, we were in this straightjacket, we’ve got 
all these regulations, we’ve got all these constraints and moved them into well, you know, let’s 
just dream for a while, let’s look forward three years and see what we really would love to do.  
Now let’s come back, we understand the current realties, we understand the regulations, we 
understand all the constraints, what is it that we can do?  That to me starts moving it away 
from being procedurally and rule-driven. 
MR ARENDSE:  Ja, I think I certainly appreciate what you’re trying to do and as someone who 
has dabbled in a bit of labour law, I think I know – and I ideally that’s what you want, you would 
want to post this Commission, take the Khayelitsha cluster command and put them in a 
workshop and take them through and have some vision exercises and agree on certain things 
but you also, which is not indicated in your report, that policing is a national competence.  You 
know that? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Yes. 
MR ARENDSE:  So it’s – I’m not saying that, you know, we mustn’t – I wouldn’t want to use the 
word dream but we shouldn’t try and improve the quality of service by, for example, employing 
some private sector strategies in the police. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I think what I’m advocating is not that you impose some formula a 
private industry approach, what I’m advocating is a process and it’s a fairly standard and 
simple process which is being used internationally in government organisations, in national 
health organisations as well as private industry, the process is owned by the leadership team, 
it’s not owned by some external party.  The facilitator role is purely there to facilitate the 
conversations, to perhaps help them push boundaries and so on but it’s absolute critical that 
that’s owned by the leadership, it’s not something which is imposed from outside and it’s not 
something which, you know, is not relevant and appropriate to the police service. 
MR ARENDSE:  For example, in relation to recruitment, I mean there’s the constitution, there’s 
the SAPS Act and for public service employees there’s the Public Service Act and it prescribes 



what the criteria are and then there’s regulations which further prescribe these things.  One of 
the things that my colleague, Mr Bishop, that questioned about, the one of diversity.  We know 
there’s affirmative action plans and programmes in place and these are contested from time to 
time especially by a trade union called Solidarity.  So it’s not as if there’s no focus on these 
things and I’m not sure whether your – you know, what you propose or recommend is helpful in 
that regard, it’s – all I’m putting to you, it’s – or maybe you can agree with me, it’s a very 
complex problem and especially that you’re dealing with a highly regulated environment. 
MS FISH:   Can I just add one thing, I think compliance with rules and regulations should be 
your minimum basic requirement of a leader, compliance.  But I mean leaders and managers, 
the whole purpose of having a leader and manager, we like this quote, it’s not our own, but that 
managers make happen what would otherwise not happen. 
 So you’re looking to your leaders to surely take this cluster where there are recognised 
problems above compliance.  The must be able to say well, what can we do, we are the 
experts, we know Khayelitsha better than anyone else, what can we do to turn these problems 
around and – so ja, whether you’re in a bureaucracy or not one would think that if you’re in a 
leadership position one is supposed to think a little bit out the box, you know, if bureaucracy is 
the box, as it were, as a leader you are supposed to think a little bit out the box and just 
because there is a rule doesn’t mean that the rule is right which is something we all are aware 
of, so maybe your leaders must be challenging some of those rules if they’re taking you down 
the wrong right. 
MR ARENDSE:  Well, you …(intervention) 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Can I also just – just sorry, if I can just respond also to your question 
because once again I’m aware that it’s a very complex situation and it’s a national situation but 
I would have thought coming back to recruitment that it actually is in everybody’s interest to 
have a recruitment process which is as effective and as efficient as possible.  The trade unions 
who are looking after their members, you know, if they can speed up the recruitment process is 
going to be less stress and less pressure on their members.  From management point of view, 
if we’re better resourced we’re going to be better able to, you know, to do our jobs. 
 So if you start off with what are agreed on as trade unions and as employees and as a 
leadership, you know, I believe that you can find ways to actually, you know, improve things 
like the recruitment process within the constraints that you have. 
MR ARENDSE:   Well then perhaps the issue should be addressed and discussed and 
debated at that level in the bargaining chamber where the decision makers are sitting and 
trying to reach agreement on these matters. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I mean, I can only say that I would hope that those discussions are 
taking place. 
MR ARENDSE:  Just lastly, I don’t think the example that Adv Bawa uses about the 
recruitment of  Byleveld many years ago is a good example.  Thank you. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR ARENDSE 
COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Arendse.  Ms Bawa, would you have any follow up 
questions? 
MS BAWA:   It’s precisely because it wasn’t a good example that I used it. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   And I think we concurred with that. 
COMMISSIONER:   Is there anything else that you would like to follow up on? 
MR PIKOLI:   I just to touch on a general proposition that would be applicable to both the 
private sector and the public sector and this is where you sit with under-resourcing combined 



with poor advocation of the insufficient resources, how would this – or how much would this 
impact on performance? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   I mean, to me it seems pretty obvious that if you’re both under-resourced 
and your resources are not optimally allocated the organisation will underperform.  I mean, you 
can’t – I don’t think you can come up with any other, you know, conclusion.  I think because 
also – and, you know, if we’ve got the numbers slightly wrong but I mean we’re seeing 
indications which say that the actual resourcing levels are 70% of what is required, now that 
actually means that there’s 50% additional effort required from that 70% to get up to the 100% 
so – and I’ll come back – at a senior leadership one of your fundamental accountabilities is 
having set the direction to ensure that you have an organisation that’s going to be capable of 
achieving that, so that goes to resourcing, you know, very specifically and if you can’t change 
the 70% you’re then got to do something about the priorities and address them in terms of 
what is achievable.  You know, you can’t expect that 70% to achieve 100% because what that 
will mean is that they will fail even on their basics, so you’ve got to change that equation and 
that’s a leadership issue. 
MR PIKOLI:   Irrespective of how people work in that environment? 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   You know, once again we don’t for a moment suggest that people aren’t 
working hard and I think it’s – I think – and I have that experience in organisations where 
people were working, you know, 12 hour days over a long period and it grinds people down, 
the energy levels go, the motivational levels go and you’ve got really good people but they’re 
just not coping and that’s where I come back to saying, you know, that level you’re fighting 
alligators, it’s a level above that needs to say you need to drain the swamp.  At that level you 
can’t do anything about it, you’re on a treadmill, you’re caught in a trap, you know, so you’ve 
got to follow the accountability and go up the level until you get to a level that can make a 
difference. 
COMMISSIONER:   Well, thank you very much indeed for the time you took for the report and 
for the testimony this morning. Yes and so thank you very much and also thank you, we know 
that you acted pro bono in the work you’ve done here, we’re very grateful to you for the work 
you’ve done in the interests of the Commission. 
MR SCHLEBUSCH:   Thank you. 
MS FISH:   Thank you. 
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